CERTIFICATION BY COUNSEL OF INTERESTED PARTIES

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

This appeal of the trial court's grant of summary judgment in favor of Edward A. Williamson and Edward A. Williamson, P.A.¹ generally raises the issue whether the trial court erred in granting summary judgment. That general issue actually involves five specific issues. So, for purposes of this appeal and this brief, the Edmondses will state the specific issues on which the Edmondses generally assert that the trial court erred in granting summary judgment in favor of Williamson.

Issue No. 1

On behalf of 31 clients, including Lisa Edmonds, Williamson negotiated a settlement of claims against American Home Products Corp.² The Edmondses disputed the amount of the settlement Williamson allocated to them. Williamson adjusted the amount of settlement allocated to the Edmondses. After this adjustment, the Edmondses signed a release in favor of AHP and they received the adjusted amount of the settlement. Did the Edmondses waive the claims of lawyer malpractice, breach of contract, and breach of fiduciary duty they have asserted against Williamson?

¹ In this brief, Appellants, Lisa Edmonds and Larry Edmonds, will refer to Edward A. Williamson and Edward A. Williamson, P.A. jointly as "Williamson."

Also, in this brief, Appellants, Lisa Edmonds and Larry Edmonds, will refer to themselves jointly as "the Edmondses."

² In this brief, the Edmondses will refer to American Home Products Corp. as "AHP."

Issue No. 2

On behalf of 31 clients, including Lisa Edmonds, Williamson negotiated a settlement of claims against AHP. The Edmondses disputed the amount of the settlement Williamson allocated to them. Williamson adjusted the amount of settlement allocated to the Edmondses. After this adjustment, the Edmondses signed a release in favor of AHP and they received the adjusted amount of the settlement. Are the Edmondses estopped from prosecuting the claims of lawyer malpractice, breach of contract, and breach of fiduciary duty they have asserted against Williamson?

Issue No. 3

In effecting the settlement with AHP, the Edmondses signed an acknowledgment and a separate agreement that Williamson presented them. The acknowledgment concerned certain amounts that Williamson would deduct from the settlement. The agreement provided that the Edmondses would execute and deliver the release of AHP and all other settlement documents AHP required. By signing the acknowledgment and separate agreement, did the Edmondses release the claims of lawyer malpractice, breach of contract, and breach of fiduciary duty they have asserted against Williamson?

Issue No. 4

In effecting the settlement with AHP, the Edmondses signed an acknowledgment and a separate agreement that Williamson presented them. The acknowledgment concerned certain amounts that Williamson would deduct from the settlement. The agreement provided that the Edmondses would execute and deliver the release of AHP and all other settlement documents AHP required. By signing the acknowledgment and separate agreement, did the Edmondses enter into an accord and satisfaction with Williamson?

Issue No. 5

Larry Edmonds never directly asserted a claim against AHP related to the use of the diet drug “Fen-phen.” But, Larry Edmonds had derivative claims against AHP for loss of consortium. In effecting the settlement with AHP, Larry Edmonds released AHP from liability on his claims for loss of consortium. Larry Edmonds received none of money that AHP paid in settlement of the claims Lisa Edmonds asserted against AHP. Can Larry Edmonds have claims against Williamson for lawyer malpractice and breach of fiduciary duty?

This appeal also involves a ruling by the trial court on a dispute concerning the ownership of and rights to the “case file” that developed between the Edmondses and George W. Healy, IV, and George W. Healy, IV, & Associates.³ The trial court’s ruling raises a single issue on appeal. But that issue itself implicitly involves four issues.

Issue No. 6

Do the Edmondses own the “case file” Healy created concerning *Edmonds v. Williamson*, or does Healy, the lawyer, own the “case file?”

Issue No. 7

If the Edmondses own the “case file” and if Healy wants to retain a copy of the file, do the Edmonds have to pay for the copy for Healy’s benefit or does Healy have to pay for the copy?

Issue No. 8

If the Edmondses own the “case file,” does Healy have a duty to provide all of the contents of the “case file” to the Edmondses or may Healy withhold “work product” or other documents?

³ In this brief, the Edmondses will refer to George W. Healy, IV, and George W. Healy, IV, & Associates jointly as “Healy.”

Issue No. 9

During the course of representing the Edmondses in *Edmonds v. Williamson*, Healy provided to the Edmondses copies of documents that form bits and pieces of the “case file.” If the Edmondses own the “case file,” does Healy have a duty to provide the Edmondses with a document if, in the course of the representation of the Edmondses, Healy previously provided the Edmondses with a copy of the document?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

I. Nature of the case

This appeal arises out of a civil action. In the civil action, the Edmondses asserted claims of lawyer malpractice and breach of fiduciary duty against Williamson.

II. Course of proceedings

The Edmondses brought an action for declaratory judgment in the Circuit Court of Kemper County, Mississippi, against Williamson. In that action, the Edmondses alleged that Williamson breached the duty of care, contractual obligations, and the duty of loyalty Williamson owed them, as his clients. Subsequent to the filing of the complaint for declaratory judgment, the Edmondses filed an amended complaint against Williamson. In this complaint, the Edmondses demanded damages in the amount of \$1,000,000, lawyer’s fees, and other relief.

During the course of the proceedings in the trial court, the Edmondses and Williamson disagreed over the right of the Edmondses to discover certain information and documents that related to the claims Williamson prosecuted against AHP for the Edmondses and for other clients Williamson represented. The Edmondses filed motions to compel the discovery of the information and documents Williamson refused to provide on claims of privilege and

confidentiality.

Also during the course of the proceedings in the trial court, Williamson filed a motion to dismiss or to transfer the case to the Circuit Court of Holmes County.

Following a hearing on the discovery and venue issues, the trial court granted the motion by the Edmondses and compelled Williamson to provide the discovery in dispute. The Trial court also ordered the Edmondses and Williamson to ask the Circuit Court of Holmes County to relieve them from the operation of the confidentiality provisions of an order establishing a qualified settlement fund. The Circuit Court of Holmes County had entered the order establishing a qualified settlement fund in conjunction with the settlement of the claims Williamson prosecuted against AHP.

Williamson asked the trial court to reconsider its ruling on the discovery issue or to certify the issues for interlocutory appeal to this Court. The trial court certified the issues for interlocutory appeal. This Court permitted Williamson to appeal the order and, thereby, to address the discovery and venue issues.

That appeal proceeded as Docket No. 2003-IA-01099-SCT. This Court decided that appeal on August 12, 2004. The Court published its opinion. *Williamson v. Edmonds*, No. 2003-IA-01099-SCT, 880 So.2d 310 (Miss. 2004). This Court affirmed the trial court and remanded the case with instructions for further proceedings consistent with the opinion. *Williamson v. Edmonds*, No. 2003-IA-01099-SCT (¶ 33).

Sometime after remand, the trial court set the case for trial in early October, 2005. In late September, 2005, Healy filed a motion asking the trial court to allow him to withdraw as counsel for the Edmondses.

Following a hearing on that motion, the trial court allowed Healy to withdraw as counsel

for the Edmondses. The trial court allowed the Edmondses 120 days to employ substitute counsel.

The Edmondses ultimately employed substitute counsel.

But before the Edmondses did so and while they were attempting to find substitute counsel, the lawyer who ultimately substituted as counsel for the Edmondses attempted to secure the “case file” from Healy. Healy declined to deliver the original “case file” to that lawyer. Healy offered to provide that lawyer copies of the entire “case file,” if that lawyer or the Edmondses paid the cost of photocopying and duplicating the contents of the “case file.”

After the Edmondses employed substitute counsel, substitute counsel filed a motion asking the trial court to compel Healy to produce the entire “case file.” Healy opposed the motion. Healy also filed a motion asking the trial court to determine which documents from the “case file” Healy needed to provide to the Edmondses.

Following a hearing on those motions, the trial court entered an order ruling on the dispute concerning the “case file.” The trial court declined to order Healy to deliver all of the original contents of the “case file” to the Edmondses. Instead, the trial court ordered Healy to allow the Edmondses access to the file to copy whatever portions of the “case file” the Edmondses wanted, at their expense. The trial court also ordered Healy to return all original papers and property the Edmondses had delivered to Healy.

In January, 2007, the trial court heard Williamson’s motion for summary judgment.

On March 19, 2007, the trial court entered a memorandum setting out its opinion. The trial court granted summary judgment in favor of Williamson on all claims. On March 29, 2007, the trial court then entered a judgment dismissing the claims by the Edmondses.

The Edmondses timely appealed.

III. Disposition in the trial court

On March 29, 2007, the trial court entered summary judgment in favor of Williamson on all claims asserted in the action.

IV. Statement of facts⁴

Williamson represented 31 clients and their spouses in litigation against AHP. All of the claims in that litigation related to the diet drug Phentermine Fenflurarnin/Dexfenfluramine (“Phen-Fen”). The Edmondses were among Williamson’s clients.

On November 12, 2000, Lisa Edmonds first met with Williamson at his law office in Philadelphia, Neshoba County, Mississippi. Five days later, Lisa Edmonds returned to Williamson’s law office in Philadelphia to sign a contract of representation.⁵ Williamson filed suit in the Circuit Court of Holmes County on behalf of 14 of the 31 clients whom Williamson represented in asserting product-liability claims relating to the use of Phen-Fen. The 14 clients on whose behalf Williamson filed suit were the plaintiffs named in *Annette Williams, et al. v. American Home Products Corp.* Williamson never named the Edmondses as plaintiffs in *Annette Williams, et al. v. American Home Products Corp.*, or in any other litigation against AHP in any court or jurisdiction. But, Williamson did prosecute the claims of all 31 clients, whether named or unnamed in the litigation.

⁴ The Edmondses extract this statement of facts from *Memorandum Opinion* that the trial court entered in this proceeding on March 19, 2007. The Edmondses and Williamson disagree strongly about the overwhelming majority of the facts material to the outcome of the claims in this action. Because the Edmondses pursue this appeal on claims that the trial court erred as a matter of law, the Edmondses see no need to detail the many disputes concerning material facts.

The Edmondses include the Memorandum Opinion in the Record Excerpts they file with this brief (Excerpts Page 000035).

⁵ The Edmondses include the fee contract in the Record Excerpts they file with this brief (Excerpts Page 000065).

On April 24, 2001, Williamson negotiated an aggregate settlement on behalf of the 31 clients and their spouses in *Annette Williams, et al v. American Home Products Corp.* in the Circuit Court of Holmes County.

Even though Williamson had never named the Edmondses as plaintiffs in *Annette Williams, et al. v. American Home Products Corp.*, Williamson advised the Edmondses that he had “informally grouped” their claim with the *Williams* claims for purposes of settlement negotiations. Williamson also advised the Edmondses that he had settled their claims as part of the settlement of all claims in *Annette Williams, et al. v. American Home Products Corp.* Confidentiality agreements and a confidentiality order cover, and apply to, the terms of that settlement.

The Edmondses claim in this case that Williamson failed to negotiate individual settlements for the claimants against AHP. The Edmondses assert that instead of individual settlements for each claimant Williamson represented, Williamson negotiated a lump-sum settlement in a fixed amount with AHP that covered the claims of all clients Williamson represented.

Williamson did not disclose to Ms. Edmonds how the settlement fund would be distributed among his clients nor the basis for the determination of who would receive what amount.

The Edmondses contend in this case that Williamson decided, on a discretionary basis, how much each claimant he represented would receive from the settlement fund. The Edmondses also contend in this case that Williamson took this action without advising them of the manner in which he was handling the settlement and without advising them of the amount of the settlement each other claimant was receiving.

The Edmondses also contend in this case that Williamson charged excessive fees. According to the fee agreement, Williamson would earn a fee based upon a graduated percentage, depending on the stage of the representation. The contract called for a fee of 33 $\frac{1}{3}$ % of any recovery by way of a settlement, by negotiation, mediation, or arbitration, before Williamson filed suit. The contract called for a fee of 40% of any recovery by way of a settlement, by negotiation, mediation, or arbitration, after Williamson filed suit, but before the earlier of the closing of discovery, the time of a final pretrial hearing, or the time Williamson commenced trial preparation.

Williamson charged the Edmondses 45% of the settlement amount. The Edmondses objected to this charge because Williamson had never filed suit for the Edmondses. Williamson informed the Edmondses that under the fee agreement, he had the right to the higher fee because he had obtained the settlement by pursuing some type of mediation process in an out-of-state forum. Williamson advised the Edmondses that even though they were never named as plaintiffs in *Annette Williams, et al. v. American Home Products Corp.*, they benefitted from the work he performed in connection with that case and, therefore, they should pay a fee as if they had participated as plaintiffs in that action.

Williamson deducted an additional 3% from the amount of the settlement he allocated to the Edmondses. Williamson advised the Edmondses that they owed this amount because they had an obligation to compensate the plaintiffs in a federal class action (In re: Diet Drugs (Phentermine Fenfluramine/Dexfenfluramine) Products Liability Litigation, MDL Docket No. 120300-CV-20147, Eastern District of Pennsylvania), for costs those plaintiffs incurred in developing discovery materials in that suit that other claimants against AHP later used against AHP. The fee agreement contains no grant of authority to Williamson to deduct the additional

3% fee.

The Edmondses and Williamson disputed concerning the amount of the total settlement with AHP that the Edmondses should receive, in gross, and the amount Williamson should deduct from that gross settlement for lawyer's fees and costs. After some discussions, Williamson increased the amount of the settlement he allocated to the Edmondses. After Williamson increased the amount of the settlement he allocated to the Edmondses, each of the Edmondses signed a Confidential Release, Indemnity and Assignment that AHP required as part of the settlement Williamson had negotiated. Each of the Edmondses also signed a document Williamson drafted and entitled "Acknowledgment of Expenses."⁶ That document reads, in relevant part:

I, Lisa Edmonds ... acknowledge that it cannot be determined with exact specificity at this time, the full extent of expenses incurred in the prosecution of this litigation and do realize that they have been very substantial. Further, I/we realize that the following categories of expenses will be deducted from my/our net proceeds.

1. Three percent of the gross recovery for expenses ordered to be deducted from each settlement by the multidistrict authority and an additional three percent is to be deducted from attorney's fees, making a total of six percent.
2. Common benefit expenses incurred in the prosecution of the lead case, Williams v. American Home Products, et al to the litigation. These expenses will be assessed on the percentage of the total recovery;
3. All expenses directly attributable to my/our specific case ...

I/we sign this with the understanding and acknowledgment so that the settlement proceeds may be expedited; releases signed, obtained and tendered to American Home Products and disbursement of monies made as soon as possible.

⁶ The Edmondses include the document Williamson entitled "Acknowledgment" in the Record Excerpts they file with this brief (Excerpts Page 000147).

Both Lisa Edmonds and Williamson executed another agreement in conjunction with the consummation of the settlement with AHP.⁷ That agreement states, in its entirety:

The Williamson Law Firm will see to it that Lisa Edmonds receives \$1,500,000.00 after applicable expenses as per the acknowledgment and attorneys' fees in the amount of FORTY-FIVE PERCENT (45%) ...

I, Lisa Edmonds, will provide to the Williamson Law Firm all properly executed documents required by American Home Products including signature of my husband on any release required by American Home Products or disbursement sheets in accordance with the above and the acknowledgment.

The Edmondses collected settlement funds from Williamson in January, 2002.

In July, 2002, through Healy, the Edmondses sued Williamson. In that civil action, the action on appeal, the Edmondses asserted claims that Williamson breached the duty of care he owed them as his clients, that he breached the fee agreement, and that he breached the fiduciary duty of loyalty he owed them, in representing them on the claims against AHP.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

The trial court erred as a matter of law in granting summary judgment in favor Williamson. Erroneously and contrary to law, the trial court concluded that the Edmondses waived their claims against Williamson by accepting the settlement with AHP. Contrary to the judgment of the trial court, even though the Edmondses accepted settlement funds from AHP, they have the right to maintain their claims against Williamson. The Edmondses never waived their claims against Williamson by accepting the settlement funds from AHP. Erroneously and contrary to law, the trial court concluded that the acceptance by the Edmondses of the settlement with AHP, operated to estop the Edmondses from prosecuting their claims against Williamson.

⁷ The Edmondses include this other agreement, a document Williamson entitled "Agreement," in the Record Excerpts they file with this brief (Excerpts Page 000149).

But, the acceptance by the Edmondses of the settlement funds from AHP in no way operates to estop them from prosecuting claims against Williamson. Erroneously and contrary to law, the trial court concluded that the Edmondses released their claims against Williamson. The trial court also concluded, erroneously and contrary to law, that the release the Edmondses gave to AHP extended to or covered Williamson. The Edmondses never released the claims they assert against Williamson. The release the Edmondses executed in favor of AHP fails to extend to, or to include, Williamson, so the release of AHP fails to release Williamson. Last, erroneously and contrary to law, the trial court concluded that the settlement the Edmondses made with AHP operated as a settlement of claims the Edmondses had against Williamson at the time the Edmondses consummated the settlement with AHP. But, the settlement the Edmondses made with AHP in no way operates as a settlement of claims the Edmondses had against Williamson at the time the Edmondses consummated the settlement with AHP.

A “case file” belongs to the client, as opposed to the lawyer who created the file while representing the client. A lawyer has no right to assert against a client lawyer-client privilege or the protection of “work product.” So, before the lawyer delivers to the client the contents of the “case file,” a lawyer has no right to “cull” from that file documents or papers as to which the lawyer claims lawyer-client privilege or the protection of “work product.” Therefore, on termination of the lawyer’s employment, the lawyer has a duty to deliver to the client all original contents of the “case file.”

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