IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MISSISSIPPI

CASE NO. 2007-CA-00751

LISA EDMONDS and LARRY EDMONDS

APPELLANT

VS.

EDWARD A. WILLIAMSON, Individually, EDWARD A. WILLIAMSON, P.A., GEORGE W. HEALY, IV, Individually, and GEORGE W. HEALY, IV & ASSOCIATES

APPELLEES

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT OF KEMPER COUNTY

BRIEF OF APPELLEES EDWARD A. WILLIAMSON, INDIVIDUALLY AND EDWARD A. WILLIAMSON, P.A.

ORAL ARGUMENT NOT REQUESTED

JOHN B. CLARK - BAR NO.

jclark@danielcoker.com

BRANDI N. SMITH - BAR NO.

bsmith@danielcoker.com

DANIEL COKER HORTON & BELL, P.A.

4400 OLD CANTON ROAD, SUITE 400

POST OFFICE BOX 1084

JACKSON, MISSISSIPPI 39215-1084

TELEPHONE: 601-969-7607

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

Lisa Edmonds never raised any coherent claim of damages except for (1) litigation expenses and (2) attorney's fees charged in her case. The Court below did not err in holding that Ms. Edmonds had released these claims in signing and agreeing to the Acknowledgment and the Agreement (Opinion, pp. 21-22, R. 3610-11; A.R.E. Tab 1).

D. ISSUE NO. 4: THE COURT BELOW DID NOT ERR IN HOLDING THAT LISA EDMONDS ENTERED INTO AN ACCORD AND SATISFACTION WITH WILLIAMSON.

The Court below correctly held that Lisa Edmonds entered into an accord and satisfaction with Williamson, which bars her from prosecuting her present claims.

The Mississippi law of accord and satisfaction has been succinctly summarized in two paragraphs:

. . . This Court has consistently held that accord and satisfaction consists of four basic requirements. Wallace v. United Mississippi Bank, 726 So. 2d 578, 589 (Miss. 1998); Alexander v. Tri-County Coop. (AAL), 609 So. 2d 401, 404-05 (Miss. 1992); Lovorn v. Iron Wood Prods. Corp., 362 So. 2d 196, 197 (Miss. 1978). In Cook v. Bowie, 448 So. 2d 286 (Miss. 1984), this Court further noted that an accord and satisfaction "must have all the essentials of a contract and may be express, or implied from the circumstances." Id. at 287 (quoting Roberts v. Finger, 227 Miss. 671, 677-78, 86 So. 2d 463, 465 (1956)). First, something of value must be offered in full satisfaction of demand. Wallace, 726 So. 2d at 589. Second, the offer must be accompanied by acts and a declaration which amount to a condition that if the thing offered is accepted, it is accepted in satisfaction. Id. Third, the party offered the thing of value is bound to understand that if he takes it, he takes it subject to the conditions. Last and fourth, the party must actually accept the item offered. Id.

As clearly required by the first three elements of a valid accord and satisfaction, there must be a "meeting of the minds of the parties." *Id.* (citing *Cook*, 448 So. 2d at 287; (quoting *Roberts*, 227

Miss. at 677-78, 86 So. 2d at 465)). This Court has held that an obligee may execute a valid accord and satisfaction by cashing checks which were offered as full satisfaction of a demand. See, e.g., Lovorn, 362 So. 2d at 197-98.

Royer Homes of Miss., Inc. v. Chandeleur Homes, Inc., 857 So. 2d 748, 753-54 (Miss. 2003). The four requirements for accord and satisfaction were reiterated by the Court in Channel, 954 So. 2d at 426.

The facts of this case lead unequivocally to the conclusion that Lisa Edmonds and Williamson reached an accord and satisfaction of their differences on May 9, 2001. All of the requirements of that doctrine outlined in *Royer Homes* and reiterated in *Channel* were met:

First, something of value must be offered in full satisfaction of demand.

By the May 9, 2001 Agreement, Williamson and his associated attorneys agreed to increase Lisa's share of the settlement from the \$1.5 million gross to which she had agreed pre-settlement to \$1.5 million net (almost doubling it). Certainly that concession constituted something of value.

Second, the offer must be accompanied by acts and a declaration which amount to a condition that if the thing offered is accepted, it is accepted in satisfaction.

In return for the increase in her settlement amount to \$1.5 million net to her, Ms. Edmonds agreed to provide

. . . all properly executed documents required by American Home Products including signature of my husband on any release required by American Home Products or disbursement sheets in accordance with the above and the Acknowledgment.

(MSJ Exh. "7," R. 2601; R.E. 149). By agreeing to sign "disbursement sheets in accordance with the above," Ms. Edmonds agreed to accept "...\$1,500,000.00 after applicable expenses as per

the acknowledgment and attorneys' fees in the amount of FORTY-FIVE PERCENT (45%)."

(Emphasis added.)

The "acknowledgment" referred to in both paragraphs of the Agreement is MSJ Exh. "6," (R. 2598; R.E. 147), in which Ms. Edmonds acknowledged that "it cannot be determined with exact specificity, at this time, the full extent of expenses incurred in the prosecution of this [Williams v. AHP] litigation"; that she and her husband "do realize that they [expenses] have been very substantial"; and that

"I/we realize that the following categories of expenses will be deducted from my/our net [should be gross] proceeds:

- 1. Three percent [for MDL fees]
- 2. Common benefit expenses incurred in the prosecution of the lead case, Williams v. American Home Products, et al. to litigation. These expenses will be assessed on the percentage of the total recovery.
- 3. All expenses directly attributable to my/our specific case

Thus Ms. Edmonds had to understand that in consideration for the increase in her net settlement amount, she was giving up any claims or contentions regarding the applicable rate of attorneys' fees (45%); the MDL fees; pro rata share of common benefit expenses in *Williams v. AHP* to be assessed on Lisa's percentage of the total recovery; and Lisa's case specific expenses.

Third, the party offering the thing of value is bound to understand that if the thing offered is accepted, he takes it subject to the conditions.

The Acknowledgment and the May 9, 2001 Agreement read together plainly required that if Lisa Edmonds accepted the \$1,500,000, she did so subject to the condition that she must give up contentions contrary to the terms of the Acknowledgment and Agreement.

Last and fourth, the party must actually accept the item offered.

Ms. Edmonds, by accepting and never returning the sum of \$1,518,562.73 (MSJ Exh. "8," R. 2603; R.E. 150), did accept the offer of Williamson and his associated attorneys, subject to the conditions stated in the Acknowledgment. Thus all four elements of accord and satisfaction are present in this case.

In explaining why accord and satisfaction was not available as in a defense in the *Channel* case, this Court stated,

The plaintiffs did not demand anything of Loyacono and Verhine except reasonable care in legal service. The settlements released AHP, not Loyacono and Verhine, from liability and future claims. Furthermore, Loyacono and Verhine provided nothing of value to the plaintiffs. Therefore, accord and satisfaction does not bar the plaintiffs' claims.

Channel, 954 So. 2d at 426-27.

Once again, the facts in the present case are distinct from the *Channel* facts. Taking the sentences above from *Channel* one by one will emphasize the distinctions:

"The plaintiffs did not demand anything of Loyacono and Verhine except reasonable care in legal service."

In the present case, after authorizing settlement for \$1.5 million gross (as Williamson understood it) and after her case was actually settled for \$2.1 million gross, Lisa Edmonds demanded that she receive \$1.5 million net of attorney fees and expenses. That was a very substantial demand of something beyond reasonable care in legal service, unlike *Channel*.

"The settlement released AHP, not Loyacono and Verhine, from liability and future claims."

Unlike the facts in *Channel*, Williamson relies not on Lisa's settlement with AHP per se, but on the Acknowledgment and the Agreement, in which Ms. Edmonds agrees to settle her case

if her settlement amount is increased to the sum of \$1.5 million net to her after expenses per the Acknowledgment, and a 45% attorney's fee. By agreeing to a sum net of such expenses and a 45% attorney's fee, Ms. Edmonds gave up the right to come back for a second bite at the apple by litigating over the expenses and attorney's fee.

"Loyacono and Verhine provided nothing of value to the plaintiffs."

The Court below held, "... [Lisa Edmonds] was offered something of value in satisfaction of her demand by Mr. Williamson offering her \$1.5 million net in satisfaction of her demand." (Opinion p. 25, R. 3614; A.R.E. Tab 1). Ms. Edmonds argues, "... Williamson provided nothing to Lisa Edmonds in presenting her with an offer of her share of the total settlement that AHP offered." Brief for Appellants, p. 30. This is the crucial point which Ms. Edmonds and her numerous attorneys have always refused to recognize: she was offered and accepted far more than her share of the total AHP offer, under any measure or theory. Ms. Edmonds' claimed injuries were in fact minimal, if they existed at all, and were far less serious than those of several other clients represented by Williamson (See MSJ Exh. 2B, pp. 12-20; R. 2534; R.E. 73). The average settlement for Williamson's clients was \$1,771,000.²⁰ Due to the justified fear of her attorneys that she would "crater" the entire wonderful settlement, Ms. Edmonds demanded, extorted and received \$2,985,000 gross-more than \$1 million above the average settlement.

AHP did <u>not</u> offer Lisa Edmonds a specific dollar amount. Williamson, Miller and Blackmon made individual evaluations and demands for their clients, including a \$2.1 million demand for Lisa Edmonds (MSJ Exh. 2C, pp. 77-80; R. 2542-43; R.E. 73). AHP responded with

²⁰See footnote 17, page 18 above.

a "global" offer of \$55 million (later reduced to \$54,900.00) in settlement of all of Williamson's Mississippi cases (*Id.*). When Williamson, Miller and Blackmon accepted that offer, they were above the total of the authorized minimal settlement authorities extended by their clients. The plan was to adjust each client's settlement upward pro rata from that client's authorized minimum settlement authority (MSJ Exh. 2C, p. 96; R. 2546; R.E. 76). However, Ms. Edmonds and one other client²¹ upset the plan and held the settlement hostage until their demands were met by the attorneys (and then they both sued the attorneys anyway!). So, contrary to her present attorney's arguments, Williamson did not simply present Ms. Edmonds with "an offer of her share of the total settlement that AHP offered."

As explained above at 18-19, Williamson and his associated attorneys increased the risk of complaints from other clients by allocating to Lisa Edmonds a greater share of the total settlement than she deserved under any reasonable theory. That risk was taken, however, because the total settlement was in the best interests of the clients as a whole. Williamson therefore incurred a detriment, which constitutes <u>value offered by Williamson</u> for purposes of the accord and satisfaction analysis.

All required elements for accord and satisfaction are present in this case. The Court below correctly held that doctrine to apply, stating,

... To this Court there is no question that the settlement documents signed by the Plaintiff, including the release to AHP, the

²ⁱThe other problem client was Carolyn Williams, later Mr. Healy's client, who also insisted on a <u>net</u> settlement to her which approximated the <u>gross</u> settlement authority she had given. *See Williams v. Williamson*, 2006 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 1913 (S.D. Miss. 2006).

Acknowledgment and the Agreement constitute an accord and satisfaction. Therefore, the Plaintiff is barred from bringing these claims against the Defendants.

(Opinion, p. 25, R. 3614; A.R.E. Tab 1).

E. ISSUE NO. 5: THE COURT BELOW CORRECTLY HELD THAT LARRY EDMONDS HAD NO CLAIM ON WHICH TO RECOVER AGAINST WILLIAMSON.

As to Larry Edmonds, the Court below held as follows:

The Court is also of the opinion that the other Plaintiff, Larry Edmonds, has no claim against Mr. Williamson at all. He is the husband of Lisa Edmonds. He was not a Plaintiff in the AHP case. He received no settlement monies at all from the settlement with AHP. He signed a release to AHP of any claim for loss of consortium. Therefore, the Court finds that the Plaintiff, Larry Edmonds, may not maintain this action against his wife's former attorneys, Edward Williamson and Michael Miller.

(Opinion, pp. 25-26, R. 3614-15; A.R.E. Tab 1).

Larry admits that to be able to sue Williamson for lawyer malpractice, Larry must prove three elements: (1) a lawyer-client relationship with Williamson; (2) negligence (or a breach of a fiduciary duty) by Williamson; and (3) that Williamson's negligence proximately caused damage to Larry (Brief of Appellants, pp. 30-31). Larry admits that he never signed a representation agreement with Williamson (*Id.*, p.32), and that he never asserted a claim against AHP (*Id.*, p. 30).

Larry also admits that no Mississippi case law holds that he can assert a claim against Williamson in the absence of a representation agreement between them (*Id.* at 32). Larry argues weakly that courts in California and New York have extended the duty of a lawyer for a married person to that person's spouse in "rather limited circumstances," (*Id.*), citing a California Appellate Division case and a New York U.S. District Court decision. However, even those

foreign cases hold only that the attorney has a duty to <u>inform</u> the non-represented spouse of a potential loss of consortium cause of action. *See Meighan v. Shore*, 34 Cal. App. 4th 1025, 1029, 40 Cal. Rptr. 2d 744, 745-46 (Cal. App. 1995); *Jordan v. Lipsig, Sullivan, Mollen & Liapakis*, *P.C.*, 689 F. Supp. 192, 197 (S.D.N.Y. 1988).

Even if there were Mississippi law to support a duty by an attorney to inform the spouse of a married client of a possible loss of consortium claim, two reasons exist why Larry cannot possibly recover against Williamson.

First, Larry undoubtedly knew he had a loss of consortium claim, because he signed the release in favor of AHP, which stated in part,

3. The term "Settled Claims" shall mean any and all claims These "Settled Claims" include . . . all claims for damages or remedies . . . for:

. . . .

d. Loss of support, services, <u>consortium</u>, companionship, society or affection, or damage to familial relations, by <u>spouses</u>, former spouses, parents, children, other relatives or "significant others" of the Claimant;

(MSJ Exh. 5, R. 2589-96; R.E. 139) (Emphasis added). This Release was signed by Larry Edmonds on oath (R. 2596; R.E. 139).

Additionally, in paragraph E of the Release, the Claimant (Lisa) agreed to indemnify and hold harmless AHP against any claim asserted by her spouse (R. 2593; R.E. 139). This paragraph constitutes further notice to Larry that he had or might have had a consortium claim, which he was giving up.

As the Opinion of the Court below observed,

"It is well settled under Mississippi law that a contracting party is under a legal obligation to read a contract before signing it." McKenzie Check Advance of Miss., LLC v. Hardy, 866 So. 2d 446, 455 (Miss. 2004), First Family Fin. Servs. v. Fairley, 173 F. Supp. 2d 565, 570 (D. Miss. 2001), Godfrey, Bassett & Kuykendall Architects, Ltd. v. Huntington Lumber & Supply Co., 584 So. 2d 1254, 1257 (Miss. 1991). Further, "[a] person cannot avoid a written contract which he has entered into on the ground that he did not read it or have it read to him " Cont'l Jewelry Co. v. Joseph, 140 Miss. 582, 105 So. 639 (1925).

Opinion p. 20, R. 3609; A.R.E. Tab 1). Being under a legal obligation to read the AHP release before he signed it, Larry Edmonds was charged with knowledge that it released all claims, including consortium claims of spouses. Larry Edmonds had no reason to sign the AHP release except to release whatever claim he might have as a spouse of the settling claimant. He was therefore necessarily aware that he might have had such a claim, and cannot have a cause of action against Williamson for failing to advise him that he might have a consortium claim.

The second reason why Larry had no right to recover against Williamson is that consortium claims of husbands are derivative to the wife's claim for injuries. "... [W]rongful death and loss of consortium are treated as derivative actions subject to all defenses that would have been available against the injured person " Choctaw, Inc. v. Wichner, 521 So. 2d 878, 882 (Miss. 1988) (Emphasis added). Accord, Daulton v. Miller, 815 So. 2d 1237, 1241 (Miss. Ct. App. 2001) ("... [A] spouse has no better claim in court than the primary claimant does.")

As is shown above, Lisa Edmonds had no viable claim against Williamson, for the reasons spelled out in the Opinion. Since Lisa had no right to recover against Williamson, and since Larry's consortium claim was derivative to hers, he also has no right to recover.

CONCLUSION

Williamson was stunningly successful in litigating and settling the claims against AHP.

After the settlement, Lisa Edmonds engaged in tactics which further increased her recovery.

Sadly, Ms. Edmonds may have spent most of her recovery in suing Williamson for more yet.

However, Williamson has no liability to the Edmondses.

The Trial Court was correct in holding that Lisa Edmonds had waived the claims she attempts to assert against Williamson in this case; that she is estopped from prosecuting those claims; that she released those claims; and that those claims are barred by the doctrine of accord and satisfaction.

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